IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	Supreme Court 17-1087
JERRY DARNELL MOSLEY,	
Defendant-Appellant.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CLAY COUNTY HONORABLE CARL J. PETERSON, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender

MARTHA J. LUCEY Assistant Appellate Defender mlucey@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE STATE PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT MOSLEY COMMITTED BURGLARY?

Authorities

State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 229 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1075 (1970)

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 247 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004)

Permission or authority to enter the residence

"lol" which means "lack of laughter." https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=lol (last visited 2/11/18)

"good bye."

https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=Peace%2 0Out (last visited 2/11/18)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004)

Authority to remain had ended

State v. Walker, 600 N.W.2d 606, 607 (Iowa 1999)

Iowa Code §713.1 (2015)

Ex parte State, 737 So.2d 480 (Ala. 1999)

Hambrick v. State, 330 S.E.2d 383 (Ga. Ct. App. 1985)

State v. Felt, 816 P.2d 1213, 1214 (Or. Ct. App. 1991)

State v. Collins, 751 P.2d 837, 841 (Wash. 1988)

Ray v. State, 522 So.2d 963, 964 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1988)

Delgado v. State, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla. 2000)

People v. Hutchinson, 477 N.Y.S.2d 965, 968 (Sup.Ct.1984)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, 558 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Shorter, 893 N.W.2d 65, 83 (Iowa 2017)

II. WAS TRIAL COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO A STATE'S WITNESS, DI, TESTIFYING TO MATTERS BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THE MINUTES OF TESTIMONY?

Authorities

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, section 10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 196 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 210 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Schaer, 757 N.W.2d 630, 637 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Cromer, 765 N.W.2d 1, 8 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860, 870 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Bennett, 503 N.W.2d 42, 46-47 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.5(3)

State v. Musso, 398 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Ristau, 340 N.W.2d 273, 274 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Walker, 281 N.W.2d 612, 612-613 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Lord, 341 N.W.2d 741, 743 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Olsen, 293 N.W.2d 216, 220 (Iowa 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 993, 101 S.Ct. 530 (1980)

III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT IMPOSE AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE BY FAILING TO MERGE ASSAULT CAUSING BODILY INJURY INTO BURGLARY IN THE FIRST DEGREE?

Authorities

State v. Mulvany, 600 N.W.2d 291, 293 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Finnel, 515 N.W.2d 41, 43 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a)

Iowa Code §701.9 (2015)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.6(2)

State v. Anderson, 565 N.W.2d 340, 343 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339, 344 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Anderson, 565 N.W.2d 340, 343 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Jeffries, 430 N.W.2d 728, 730 (Iowa 1988)

State v. McNitt, 451 N.W.2d 824, 825 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Peck, 539 N.W.2d 170, 175 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Lambert, 612 N.W.2d 810, 816 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa Code §701.9 (2015)

IV. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ORDERING MOSLEY TO REIMBURSE THE STATE FOR THE COST OF HIS LEGAL ASSISTANCE WITHOUT FIRST CONSIDERING HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY SUCH RESTITUTION?

Authorities

State v. Jenkins, 788 N.W.2d 640, 642 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Klawonn, 688 N.W.2d 271, 274 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547, 548-49 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 44 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a)

Iowa Code §815.9(3) (2015)

Iowa Code §910.2 (2015)

Iowa Code §815.9(4) (2015)

Iowa Code §910.2(1) (2015)

State v. Alspach, 554 N.W.2d 882, 883 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Mayberry, 415 N.W.2d 644, 646 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 2001)

Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(a)

State v. Haines, 360 N.W.2d 791, 797 (Iowa 1985)

State v. Harrison, 351 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 1984)

Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 667 n.8, 103 S.Ct. 2064, 2069 n.8 (1983)

Iowa Court R. 26.2(10)(c)

State v. Coleman, # 16-0900, 2018 WL 672132, at *16 (Iowa Feb. 2, 2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because an issue raised presents a substantial question of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(f). Specifically, Mosley requests this Court reexamine its decision in State v. Walker, which affirmed a first-degree burglary conviction concluding the victim's "actions here are sufficient to support a finding that Walker should have known from her resistance to his assault and her begging of him to stop that he no longer had her permission to be in her home." The Walker Court stated its decision was not so broad as to permit a conviction for burglary for the mere commission of a crime in an occupied structure, but this is the result in practice. State v. Walker, 600 N.W.2d 606, 610 (Iowa 1999).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Jerry Mosley appeals following his jury trial, judgment and sentence, to the charges of burglary in the first degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 713.1 and 713.3 (2015), and assault causing bodily injury in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.1 and 708.2(2) (2015).1

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On June 17, 2016, Mosley was charged by Trial Information with burglary in the first degree for acts alleged on June 6, 2016. (TI)(App. pp. 5-6).

On July 7, 2016, the State moved to amend the Trial Information to include four additional counts. (Motion to Amend TI)(App. pp. 7-8). Mosley resisted the motion to amend the Trial Information. (Resistance to Motion to Amend TI)(App. p. 9). After an unreported hearing, the court granted the motion to amend the Trial Information. (7/11/16 Order)(App.

Mosley was also convicted of criminal mischief in the fifth degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 716.1 and 716.6(2) (2015). Mosley does not have an appeal of right from a simple misdemeanor. Iowa Code §814.6(1)(a) (2015); Tyrell v. Iowa District Court, 413 N.W.2d 674, 675 (Iowa 1987).

pp. 10-11). On July 11, 2016, the Amended Trial Information was filed which charged Mosley with Count I: burglary in the first degree; Count II: assault while participating in a felony; Count III: willful injury; Count IV: harassment in the first degree; and Count V: criminal mischief in the fourth degree. (Amended TI)(App. pp. 12-14).

A jury trial began on June 6, 2017. (Vol. 1 p. 1L1-25). Prior to the presentation of evidence, the State amended Count V to criminal mischief in the fifth degree. (Vol. 1 p. 99L24-p. 100L11). After completion of the evidence, the State amended Count IV to harassment in the second degree. (Vol. 2 p. 31L16-p. 32L8). The jury found Mosley guilty of burglary in the first degree (Count I), assault while participating in a felony (Count II), assault causing bodily injury (Count III), and criminal mischief in the fifth degree (Count V). Mosley was found not guilty of harassment (Count IV). (6/8/17 Order)(App. pp. 37-38).

On June 26, 2017, Mosley was sentenced. The court sentenced Mosley to be incarcerated for a term not to exceed

twenty-five years on Count I: burglary in the first degree. The court did not enter judgment on Count II: assault while participating in a felony as it merged into first-degree burglary. The court ordered Mosley to serve one year on Count III: assault causing bodily injury. Lastly, Mosley was sentenced to thirty days on Count V: criminal mischief in the fifth degree. (Sent. Tr. p. 6L7-22, p. 12L6-p. 14L11; Judgment)(App. pp. 46-52). The district court ordered Mosley to reimburse the state for the cost of his legal assistance. (Sent. Tr. p. 16L3-7; Judgment p. 4)(App. p. 49). Consistent with the jury's verdict of not guilty, the court dismissed Count IV: harassment. (Nunc Pro Tunc)(App. pp. 54-55).

Notice of Appeal was filed on July 6, 2017. (Notice)(App. p. 53).

<u>Facts</u>: Kristen Christoffer began an intimate relationship with Mosley in 2014. Mosley was married. Christoffer and Mosley saw each other almost every day. (Vol. 1 p. 116L2-22). In November of 2015, the relationship ended. (Vol. 1 p. 116L25-p. 117L15). They did not have contact again until

February 2016. (Vol. 1 p. 117L16-24). Mosley messaged Christoffer on Facebook and said he missed her. They met the next day and the relationship began again. They had daily contact. (Vol. 1 p. 117L25-p. 118L10). They would go to the casino and on road trips. When Christoffer had the day off from work, she would go to Mosley's house and then usually Mosley would go to her house later in the day. (Vol. 1 p. 118L16-24).

In June 2016, Christoffer lived a duplex with her two children. (Vol. 1 p. 133L3-10). Christoffer said Mosely did not have a key to the duplex. He did not spend the night because he was married. (Vol. 1 p. 131L16-19, p. 161L4-16, p. 166L13-19). But Mosley was a frequent visitor to Christoffer's home. (Vol. 1 p. 166L20-23). Mosley did not have any property in the house. (Vol. 1 p. 131L20-21). In the past, Mosley would go into Christoffer's house to let the dog out when she was working. Christoffer sold the dog in April 2016. (Vol. 1 p. 131L22-p. 132L6, p. 161L17-p. 162L6).

At the end of May or early June 2016, Christoffer heard that Mosley was involved with multiple women other than Christoffer and his wife. On June 6th, Christoffer confronted Mosley via text message about it and he said she was lying and others were lying to her. (Vol. 1 p. 119L5-16). Christoffer accused Mosley of being involved with "Cede" among other women. (Vol. 1 p. 123L8-18). Mosley denied being involved with anyone else. He texted that his wife was the only one he had to lie to. (Vol. 1 p. 119L17-p. 120L3). In the beginning, Christoffer was laughing at the texts as they were coming in. (Vol. 1 p. 164L15-21). Mosley accused Christoffer of sleeping with "Temi." (Vol. 1 p. 123L25-p. 124L1). The text argument went back and forth with accusations of infidelity by both Christoffer and Mosley. (Vol. 1 p. 124L2-p. 125L14, p. 126L20-p. 129L8; Ex 29)(App. pp. 17-29). Christoffer acknowledged Mosley was not the villain or the victim because they both played their parts and it did not work out. Mosley responded "[n]o hard feelings it all me sorry for bugging u." (Vol. 1 p. 129L9-19; Ex 29 p. 10)(App. p. 26). Mosley then

texted some insults insinuating Christoffer was promiscuous. He then said goodbye again. (Vol. 1 p. 129L20-p. 130L4; Ex. 29 pp. 11-12)(App. pp. 27-28). Christoffer asked Mosley if he felt better now after calling her every name. She then texted, "lol not on hoe shit. I'll be right here with or without u. same as every other day." (Vol. 1 p. 165L21-p. 166L12, p. 172L20-p. 173L3; Ex. 29 p. 12)(App. pp. 28).2 Mosley responded that "U are who u are an like I said you will die alone." "Yup now dew us both a favor and lose my number." Christoffer responded "lol will do. peace out douchelord..." (Vol. 1 p. 130L11-22; Ex. 29 p. 13)(App. p. 29). "Douchelord" was Christoffer's pet name for Mosley. (Vol. 1 p. 163L16-p. 164L14). After the text argument, Christoffer considered the relationship over. (Vol. 1 p. 134L15-22).

Christoffer was watching her friend's two children on June 6th. Her two children were also at home. (Vol. 1 p. 133L20-p. 134L10). TW was asleep on the floor of Christoffer's son's

² LOL means "laugh out loud." (Vol. 1 p. 163L19-20).

room. DI was downstairs watching television. (Vol. 1 p. 138L11-19, p. 176L9-18, p. 177L5-25).

Mosley walked in the door. He walked past DI, stepping over his leg. Mosley said "excuse me" and then ran up the stairs. (Vol. 1 p. 178L4-20). Mosley took off his shoes before going upstairs. (Vol. 1 p. 188L4-11).

Christoffer was getting her son dressed when she heard something on the stairs and saw Mosley running up the stairs. (Vol. 1 p. 133L11-19, p. 134L23-p. 135L4). Christoffer was confused to see Mosley as she thought they had just agreed to they were not going to be talking anymore. Christoffer did not give Mosley permission to come over. She had no idea he was coming over. (Vol. 1 p. 138L20-p. 139L3, p. 145L21-p. 147L4). As soon as Mosley reached the top of the stairs, he started hitting Christoffer. With the first blow, she fell into her son's room onto a sleeping child. When she got up, Mosley kept hitting her. Christoffer hit the wall causing an indentation. At one point, Christoffer had to hold on because she believed Mosley was trying to throw her down the stairs. Christoffer

stated that Mosley stomped on her when she fell down onto the stairs. Christoffer kicked at him to get him off her.

Christoffer stated that she was "screaming for [her] babies and to stop, and [she] screamed down the stairs to tell [DI] to call 9-1-1." Christoffer told Mosley to stop and that she loved him. Mosley said "that [Christoffer didn't] love him and to fuck with his emotions again." Christoffer was not sure Mosley continued to assault her after she said she loved him. (Vol. 1 p. 136L11-p. 137L1, p. 137L20-23, p. 139L4-10, p. 142L4-p. 143L2, p. 147L5-22, p. 149L6-15, p. 168L15-24, p. 178L23-p. 179L15, p. 181L3-p. 182L14). DI testified that Mosley threatened to burn down the house and kill everyone in it. (Vol. 1 p. 179L16-25, p. 180L18-24).

At some point, Mosley went into Christoffer's bedroom and took her phone off the charger. Mosley went downstairs where he threw the phone against the wall, breaking it. Mosley threw the microwave on the kitchen floor and tried to tip over the refrigerator. (Vol. 1 p. 141L12-19, p. 149L16-p. 150L13, p. 182L22-p. 183L18; Vol. 2 p. 4L23-p. 5L3, p. 9L4-10, p.

15L15-20). Mosley then went back upstairs and hit Christoffer again. (Vol. 1 p. 137L2-8, p. 183L19-21, p. 184L13-p. 185L5).

When Mosley left, Christoffer and the children locked themselves in the bathroom. Christoffer called 911 using DI's phone. (Vol. 1 p. 137L6-17, p. 143L5-p. 144L19, p. 182L15-18, p. 185L14-19).

Christoffer's face was bleeding. Her ribs hurt. She had bruises on her hands. She missed three or four days of work. (Vol. 1 p. 139L11-p. 140L22, p. 150L14-p. 151L7, p. 157L4-p. 158L1; Vol 2 p. 4L15-22, p. 9L21-p. 10L1, p. 15L21-p. 16L11).

Spencer Police Officer Davenport tried to locate Mosley.

He was not able to locate him. (Vol. 2 p. 16L12-16).

Davenport was later advised by dispatch that Mosley was at the jail and was turning himself in. Davenport met with Mosley at the jail. Davenport asked Mosley to stand up and turn around.

Mosley was placed under arrest. Mosley make a comment "is this just for an assault or what?" (Vol. 2 p. 16L17-p. 17L21).

Mosley was very calm. (Vol. 2 p. 18L5-11).

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT MOSLEY COMMITTED BURGLARY.

Standard of Review.

The Court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence for corrections of legal error. State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 229 (Iowa 2001).

Preservation of Error.

Mosley moved for a judgment of acquittal. (Vol. 2 p. 19L17-p. 22L21, p. 27L1-p. 28L15; Statement of Case pp. 3-4)(App. pp. 41-42). The motion for judgment of acquittal preserved error on the issue presented. State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981).

Discussion.

The ultimate burden is on the State to prove every fact necessary to constitute the offense with which a defendant has been charged. State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976) (citing In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1075 (1970)). Due process guarantees that no person shall

suffer the onus of a conviction except upon sufficient proof - defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of each and every element of the offense. <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979).

The jury's findings of guilt are binding on appeal if supported by substantial evidence. State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998). Substantial evidence is such evidence as would convince a rational trier of fact that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 247 (Iowa 1984). In deciding if there is substantial evidence the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, but it considers all the evidence presented at trial and not just the evidence which supports the verdict. State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980). The evidence must raise a fair inference of guilt as to each essential element of the crime. Evidence which merely raises suspicion, speculation, or conjecture is insufficient. State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 787 (Iowa 1992). Evidence that

allows two or more inferences to be drawn, without more, is insufficient to support guilt. State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004).

The State was required to prove the following elements of burglary in the first degree:

- 1. On or about the 6th day of June, 2016, the defendant entered the residence of Kristen Christoffer.
- 2. The residence was an occupied structure as defined in Instruction No. 26.
- 3. One or more persons were present in the occupied structure.
- 4. The defendant did not have permission or authority to enter the residence or defendant did not have permission and authority to remain in the residence or defendant's authority to remain had ended.
- 5. The residence was not open to the public.
- 6. The defendant did so with the specific intent to commit an assault.
- 7. During the burglary, the defendant did intentionally or recklessly inflict bodily injury on Kristen Christoffer.

(Ins. 25)(App. p. 31). At issue was element number four – Mosley's right to enter and/or remain in the home. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove this element.

Christoffer was questioned regarding "any permission"

Mosley had to be at her residence on June 6th:

- A. As far as I know, I wouldn't be seeing him anymore. I didn't give him permission to come over. I had no idea that he was going to be coming over.
- Q. He had come over to your - to your duplex at 705 8th Avenue East in the past; right?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And on those occasions when he came over what would happen? Did he knock? Did he call ahead of time?
- A. Well, generally speaking he would tell me to leave the door open.
- Q. Okay. And so you were generally aware that he was coming over?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And at that point when - that was at the point in your relationship was ongoing; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. During that relationship did he have your permission to come into your home?
- A. During the relationship, yes.
- Q. At some point then did that permission end?
- A. Correct.

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