IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1087

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

JERRY DARNELL MOSLEY, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CLAY COUNTY THE HONORABLE CARL J. PETERSON, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

KRISTI KUESTER Clay County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

been at the height of his affair with Kristen, his permission to enter her home was limited to doing so with her knowledge for purposes of sexual liaisons (or perhaps conversation). Under no circumstances, past or present, did the defendant's permission to enter the home include license to savagely beat Kristen, shatter her cell phone, or ransack her kitchen appliances. Plainly the defendant exceeded the scope of any permission he may have once had.

Finally, while the defendant suggests in his brief that Walker is an unusual or aberrant decision, he cites no support for that proposition. See Defendant's Proof Br. at 49 (urging the Court "to reexamine Walker and overrule it"). At least one survey of modern burglary statutes notes that a majority of states criminalize some form of "remaining unlawfully" or "remaining" in their burglary crimes. See Helen A. Anderson, From the Thief in the Night to the Guest Who Stayed Too Long: The Evolution of Burglary in the Shadow of the Common Law, 45 Ind. L. Rev. 629, 645 n.13 (2012). The above survey of case law also demonstrates that Walker is in the mainstream of judicial decisions. Notably, it is not clear that the defendant has found a single precedential case—from any jurisdiction—that would warrant reversing his conviction.

In light of *stare decisis*, the weight of authority across the country, and the facts of this case, the defendant's conviction should be affirmed. To the extent he had any permission to be in Kristen's home on June 6, 2016, that permission was extinguished by Kristen resisting the assault, begging the defendant to stop attacking her, yelling for help, and calling the police. The jury's verdict withstands the defendant's attack.

II. Counsel Was Not Ineffective. Objecting to D.I.'s Testimony May Not Have Been Warranted and Would Not Have Changed the Outcome.

Preservation of Error

Ineffective-assistance claims are an exception to the general rules of error preservation. *See State v. Wills*, 696 N.W.2d 20, 22 (Iowa 2005).

Standard of Review

Constitutional claims, including ineffective-assistance claims grounded in the Sixth Amendment, are reviewed de novo. *Wills*, 696 N.W.2d at 22.

Merits

The defendant next claims that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to a portion of D.I.'s testimony when he relayed a threatening statement he heard the defendant make inside Kristen's home. Defendant's Proof Br. at 50–58. The defendant is not entitled to relief. He cannot prove breach of an essential duty, as the record does not clearly establish whether the State provided fair notice of the testimony during discovery but outside the minutes of testimony. And the defendant cannot show prejudice because there is no reasonable probability that objecting to this evidence would have resulted in acquittal.

To demonstrate he received ineffective assistance, a criminal defendant bears the burden to prove "(1) his trial counsel failed to perform an essential duty, and (2) this failure resulted in prejudice." *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 688, 687–89 (1984)). The defendant must prove the facts underlying his claim by a preponderance of the evidence and affirmatively prove both elements. *State v. Madsen*, 813 N.W.2d 714, 724 (Iowa 2012). Failure to prove either element is fatal. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700.

To establish a breach of duty, the defendant is required to show "that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. "[C]ounsel's performance is measured

against the standard of a reasonably competent practitioner." *State v. Begey*, 672 N.W.2d 747, 749 (Iowa 2003). There is a strong presumption of counsel's competence. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

As to the second element, "An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. Under this prong, the defendant is required to show "that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial[.]." *Id.* at 687. "The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

As relevant background for evaluating the ineffective-assistance claim, the Iowa Supreme Court has held that the purpose of the minutes of testimony "is to alert the defendant *generally* to the source and nature of the evidence against him." *State v. Lord*, 341 N.W.2d 741, 743 (Iowa 1983) (emphasis original). The minutes fulfill their function so long as the defendant is "put on notice of the necessity of further investigation of the witness' probable testimony."

Id. at 743. Minutes of testimony "need not detail each circumstance of the testimony, but they must be sufficient—fully and fairly—to alert [the] defendant generally to the source and nature of the evidence against him." State v. Walker, 281 N.W.2d 612, 614 (Iowa 1979); see State v. Wells, 522 N.W.2d 304, 307 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994) ("The obligation to provide a 'full and fair statement' does not require the State to use precision in composing the expected testimony of each witness named in the minutes."). A general description of expected testimony is sufficient. See State v. Bennett, 503 N.W.2d 42, 47 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993) (holding that a minute stating a doctor would testify to "external appearance and internal appearance during the course of the autopsy" was sufficient notice as to the particular findings resulting from the examination).

Even if the State altogether fails to minute a witness, the remedy is not necessarily exclusion of the witness's testimony. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(3). The district court "may order the state to permit the discovery of such witnesses, grant a continuance, or enter such other order as it deems just under the circumstances," reserving the exclusion of testimony as a remedy of last resort, available only when "no less severe remedy is adequate." Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(3). In

interpreting this and similar rules of criminal procedure, Iowa's appellate courts have recognized that not every failure to provide adequate notice in the minutes requires the severe remedy of excluding evidence, generally only approving exclusion of testimony when its admission would unfairly and prejudicially surprise the defendant or necessitate a material and substantial delay to allow for defense counsel's preparation. *See State v. Musso*, 398 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1987); *State v. Bedwell*, 417 N.W.2d 66, 69 (Iowa 1987); *State v. LeGrand*, 501 N.W.2d 59, 62 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993). Ordinarily, offering the defense a continuance and opportunity for further investigation is a sufficient remedy. *Bedwell*, 417 N.W.2d at 69.

As to the first prong of *Strickland*, the record is not sufficient for the defendant to affirmatively prove that trial counsel was deficient. The record is silent as to whether D.I. was deposed or made the challenged statement to the police or in any other fashion whereby the defense would have been apprised, through discovery, of his expected testimony regarding the threat. It appears at least some witnesses were deposed, though it is unknown whether D.I. was. *See* 7/18/2016 Application for Depositions; App. 15. It is not possible for

this Court to find counsel not objecting was professionally unreasonable without knowing exactly what information was disclosed during discovery. The defendant necessarily cannot prove breach of an essential duty for this discovery issue on a direct-appeal record, and this is fatal to his claim.

Second, the defendant cannot prove prejudice, even if he could prove breach of an essential duty. In his brief, the defendant essentially chooses not to conduct a prejudice analysis. Instead, he baldly asserts—with little to no explanation—that "confidence in the outcome is undermined." Defendant's Proof Br. at 57. This assertion of prejudice is facially insufficient. See State v. Tate, 710 N.W.2d 237, 241 (Iowa 2006) (noting that "conclusory claims of prejudice" are not sufficient to satisfy the prejudice inquiry). Contrary to the defendant's abbreviated summary, to show prejudice he must prove the "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. In the context of a jury trial, a different outcome is an acquittal. The defendant has not remotely carried his burden to prove the reasonable probability he would have been acquitted.

Even if one makes a number of unwarranted assumptions in the defendant's favor—assuming the evidence was not disclosed in discovery, assuming an objection was made at trial, and assuming the objection was not overruled—the defendant still cannot show the evidence would have been excluded, let alone that he would have been acquitted. Ordinarily, a deficiency in the minutes is sufficiently remedied by offering the defense a continuance and opportunity for further investigation. Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d at 69; cf. State v. Sevcik, 239 N.W.2d 571, 573 (Iowa 1976). There is no reason to think a very brief continuance, or perhaps a lunchtime deposition or interview, would be insufficient to cure any alleged surprise. This record does not prove that the admission of D.I.'s testimony was such a severe and prejudicial surprise that the district court would have had no option but to impose the sanction of last resort and exclude the evidence. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(3); Musso, 398 N.W.2d at 868; LeGrand, 501 N.W.2d at 62; Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d at 69. This is particularly so because the minutes gave the defense fair notice that additional discovery of D.I. was appropriate (and may well have been conducted in this case). See Minutes, pp. 1–2; Conf. App. 4–5; Lord, 341 N.W.2d at 743.

Moreover, even if the objection was sustained and the testimony was excluded, this still would not have resulted in acquittal. The fighting issue at trial was plainly related to permission for the defendant to be in Kristen's house (see Division I), and the defendant admitted that he committed the assault (see trial tr. vol. II, p. 49, lines 1-5 ([Defense closing]: "... [A]n assault clearly took place. Once he got there and the argument resumes he committed assault against her, and he caused her bodily injury, and those we have no excuse for. He certainly did those things...."). To the extent the threatening statement might have been materially probative on any count at trial, it would have been on the harassment count—and the judge ruled from the bench that the State could not rely on the allegedly unminuted statement as the basis for harassment. See trial tr. p. 31, lines 4–10.7 D.I.'s testimony regarding the defendant's statement was largely background noise and had little or nothing to do with the jury's verdict on the counts for burglary and assault causing bodily injury. The defendant has not carried his burden to prove the reasonable probability any objection would have been sustained, let

⁷ Also, the jury acquitted on the harassment count. *See* Verdict Form nos. 18 & 20; App. 35–36.

alone that the objection would have led to his acquittal. The defendant is not entitled to relief.

Finally, while the record is sufficient to reject the defendant's claim at this juncture, this Court could choose to preserve the claim for postconviction relief and further development of the record. *See* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2015); *State v. Coil*, 264 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1978) (on how "even a lawyer" deserves his day in court).

III. The Convictions for Burglary and Assault Causing Bodily Injury Do Not Merge Because There Was More than One Assault.

Preservation of Error

To the extent the defendant's complaint is truly grounded in the illegal-sentence doctrine, the State is unable to contest error preservation. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a). However, to the extent the defendant's complaint could arguably veer into an argument that the jury instructions did not specify whether the jury found one or more than one assault took place, error was not preserved, and the complaint cannot be heard. *See, e.g., State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999) (on error preservation).

Standard of Review

Review is for correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.907.

Merits

Next, the defendant argues that his conviction for assault causing bodily injury should merge into his conviction for first-degree burglary. *See* Defendant's Proof Br. at 58–62. The defendant's argument might have some appeal if only one assault took place over the course of the burglary. But this record discloses that *at least* two assaults took place: the defendant tackled Kristen, knocked her to the ground (and onto a sleeping child), punched her in the face and body with a closed first, stomped on her ribs four or five times, and tried to throw her down the stairs. *See* trial tr. vol. I, p. 136, line 11 — p. 137, line 17p. 178, lines 11–14; p. 179, lines 1–9; p. 184, lines 13–22; p. 189, line 15 — p. 190, line 1.

The defendant did not lodge below, and has not levied on appeal, any argument that there was an insufficient break in the action to support two separate assaults taking place, nor did the defendant request more specificity in the marshaling instructions for the assault. To the extent his complaint could generously be interpreted to embrace those grounds, that error was not preserved and cannot be heard. Here, the failure to preserve error is not merely an academic complaint: had the defendant complained below that he

believed there needed to be more of a timeline for when and where each assaultive act took place, the State could have further developed that testimony.

Even without such a complaint below, however, Kristen's testimony establishes that one assault took place upstairs near the bedroom and then another assault took place downstairs or on the stairs. See trial tr. p. 142, lines 4–13. In addition, D.I.'s testimony established that the defendant assaulted Kristen upstairs, then ran downstairs to ransack the kitchen, then "ran back upstairs, [and] started hitting Kristen again." See trial tr. vol. I, p. 180, line — p. 183, line 21. This is sufficient to establish a break in the action and support at least two separate assaults. See trial tr. vol. II, p. 27, line 21 - p. 28, line 7 (the district court judge, in another context, referring to a "break in the assault"). On this record, and with these facts, burglary (Count I) and assault causing bodily injury (Count III) do not merge and the defendant is not entitled to relief.

IV. The Defendant's Restitution Challenge Is Procedurally Barred and Cannot Be Heard. The District Court Has Not Determined the Amount He Owes for Court Costs or Attorneys' Fees.

Motion to Dismiss/Failure To Exhaust

Under controlling Supreme Court precedent, the defendant has failed to exhaust his remedies for challenging his reasonable ability to pay, and his complaint cannot be heard:

... Iowa Code section 910.7 permits an offender who is dissatisfied with the amount of restitution required by the plan to petition the district court for a modification. Unless that remedy has been exhausted, we have no basis for reviewing the issue in this court.

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